THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Post-Conviction Relief

Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2014-001640

Bobby Russell, Jr.,..... Petitioner,

vs.

State of South Carolina,Respondent.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

TOMMY A. THOMAS
P.O. Box 88
Irmo, SC 29063
(803) 732-5507
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

Other Counsel of Record:

Megan Harrigan Jameson, Esq.
Assistant Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
Attorney for Respondent

Irmo, South Carolina
June 15, 2015

RECEIVED

JUN 15 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

QUESTION PRESENTED

That the Court erred in denying Post Conviction Relief on the basis that Petitioner's plea was not entered into freely, voluntarily, knowingly and intelligently.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Petitioner was indicted during the August 2009 term of the Dorchester County Grand Jury for two counts of Committing or Attempting a lewd Act upon a Child (2009-GS-18-1097-1275) and Criminal Sexual Conduct with a Minor in the First Degree (2009-GS-18-9990). Petitioner was represented by Paul N. Uricchio, III, Esq. and Chad W. Fuller, Esq. On November 8, 2010, Petitioner appeared before the Honorable Diane Goodstein and pled guilty to three counts of Committing or Attempting to Commit a Lewd Act upon a Child. Pursuant to plea negotiations between Petitioner and the State, Judge Goodstein sentenced Petitioner to fifteen years imprisonment suspended upon the service of three years imprisonment followed by five years of probation for each count, with all three sentences to be served concurrently. No direct appeal was filed.

The Petitioner filed an Application for Post Conviction Relief on November 7, 2011. The Respondent made its Return on January 18, 2012, requesting an evidentiary hearing be held. An evidentiary hearing was convened on May 21, 2013 at the Orangeburg County Courthouse and on October 18, 2013 at the Calhoun County Courthouse. Petitioner was present at the hearing and was represented by counsel, Tommy A. Thomas, Esq. Respondent was represented by Assistant Attorney General Megan E. Harrigan of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Petitioner was charged with three counts of Lewd Act, Committing or Attempting Lewd Act Upon Child Under 16. He entered into a guilty plea before the Honorable Diane S. Goodstein on November 8, 2010.

The Petitioner was in the Dorchester Count jail for over two years. (App. p. 66, lines 15-16) Petitioner contended that he was innocent of the charges. He retained the Uricchio Law Firm to represent him (App. p. 69, line 16) and was represented by Paul N. Uricchio and Chad W. Fuller.

In preparation for Trial, counsel hired Dr. William Burke to evaluate the Petitioner. (App. p. 71, lines 5-6) There was no DNA or finger prints tying the Petitioner to the scene. (App. p. 72, lines 4-7) In addition, a forensic interview was performed but showed concern that the victims had been coached on what to say. (App. p. 72, lines 7-13)

The Petitioner was charged with three separate offenses on three separate victims. However, these offenses happened at two different locations on two separate occasions. There were two victims as the second location.

The Petitioner's defense was that at the first location, the family owned Pit bulls and therefore, he could not have entered the premises undetected (App. p. 72, lines 24-25, p. 73, lines 1-11) In the second location, his defense was that the victim's Mother had a history of making unfounded allegations and that he had a witness to this effect. Also the forensic interview of victims 2 and 3 was unreliable and showed that the children had been coached as to what to say.

The Petitioner was offered a number of plea offers. The last offer by the State was a plea that would have resulted in the Petitioner going to the Department of Corrections for a short period of time. What the Petitioner called a turn around. (App. p. 75, lines 2-24)

The Petitioner attempted to enter a plea of North Carolina v. Alford, but the Judge would not accept the plea. (App. p. 81, lines 1-11) A guilty plea was entered by the Petitioner.

The Petitioner stated that he first heard about the Sexually Violent Predator Program (SVP) in the Courtroom during the Plea. (App. p. 83, lines 10-15) The Petitioner was advised about SVP by the Plea Judge but he was not concerned about it because he was told that he did not meet the criteria for the Program. (App. p. 84, lines 2-19) This belief was based on the fact that Dr. Burke had found that he was safe to be released (App. p. 86, lines 6-7) and that both Attorneys told him that he did not need to worry about the program (App. p. 87, lines 4-22) He further believed that he did not need to worry about the program because of the comments of the Judge (App. p.89, lines 3-25) regarding the conditions of his Probation.

He was later screened for the program and was placed into the Sexually Violent Predator program.

ARGUMENT

That the Court erred in denying Post Conviction Relief on the basis that Petitioner's plea was not entered into freely, voluntarily, knowingly and intelligently.

The Petitioner in this case entered into a guilty plea on the advice of his counsel that turned out to be incorrect. The Petitioner believed that by pleading to the charges that he would receive a sentence that would allow him to return home in a very short period of time. The plea was represented to the Petitioner as a "turn around", in that he would go to the South Carolina Department of Corrections for a very short period of time and then be released to probation. The Petitioner had always contended that he was not guilty of this crime and from the start the case was being set up for a trial. Counsel, on behalf of the Petitioner had attempted to set the plea as an Alford plea, but Judge Goodstein was unwilling to accept an Alford plea.

During the course of the plea colloquy, Petitioner was advised by the Court that he would have would have to register as a sex offender. (App. p. 7, lines 18, 19) That if he was determined to meet the criteria for the Sexually Violent Predator Program, that he could be forcibly held and treated as such time as the abnormality or risk to the community no longer existed. (App. p. 8, lines 15-25 and p. 9, lines 1-13) and finally that he could possibly be required to be monitored under GPS monitoring as a result of Megan's Law. (App. p. 9, lines 14-18)

Petitioner believed that he had viable defenses to the charges. That there were three crimes, but only two incidences. That in the first crime, victim 1, the home in which the alleged crime took place, had pit bull dogs. The Petitioner believed that it would have been impossible for him to have come into the home unannounced as a result of the dogs being present. He therefore believed that he had a viable defense to these allegations.

In the second situation, victim 2 and 3, the Petitioner believed that these charges were purely made up on a retaliatory basis. That there was animosity between he and the victim's parents. In addition, the victim's Mother had a history of making false allegations. That she had made allegations of a similar nature against her father, Mr. Lewellen. The father was available to testify at trial regarding her credibility and truthfulness. (App. p. 80, lines 4-6)

At the Post Conviction Relief hearing, plea counsel for Petitioner, Mr. Fuller, testified that he was surprised that the Petitioner had agreed to accept the plea. That it was his understanding that this case was always going to be a trial. (App. p.123, lines 1-8)

The Petitioner testified that he was unaware of the Sexually Violent Predator Act until he was in the Courtroom. He testified that he spoke with counsel Mr. Uricchio about this matter and counsel advised him not to worry about the Sexually Violent Predator act because he did not meet the criteria to be placed in this program. Although he was advised by the Court that he could very possibly meet the threshold for an evaluation, he was not concerned about these comments, because his counsel advised him that he did not meet the criteria. (App. p. 84, lines 14-19)

The Petitioner was asked on the stand by the State about his guilty plea being an admission of guilt. The Petitioner responded that he made these admissions on the advice of his attorney. He was advised by counsel that if he did not admit these crimes that the Court would not accept his plea, and that this plea would allow him to come home. (App. p. 96, lines 1-23)

The evidence presented at Post Conviction Relief supported the claim of the Petitioner. He testified that it was his understanding that he was not going to be eligible for the Sexually Violent Predator Program. That pursuant to this plea, that he would serve a little over 100 days in the South Carolina Department of Corrections and then be released. That Dr. Bill Burke had

performed a pre-plea evaluation and it was Dr. Burke's opinion that he was not a danger to the community. (App. p. 86, lines 6-7) That there was no evidence such as DNA or finger prints and that the forensic interview of the children in the second case showed that the children's statements had been coached. (App. p. 72, lines 4-13)

The Petitioner also points to the comments made by the Plea Judge regarding his release. Judge Goodstein spoke about Dr. Burke and his ability to be helpful for sexual offenders. That he would be participating in Dr. Burke's program (App. p. 42, lines 1-25) and the fact that there were other conditions imposed upon his release, such as 500 hours of community service, random drug and alcohol testing and that he take any medication for any mental illness that he may be suffering from. (App. p. 43, lines 1-25 and p. 44, lines 1-9)

The Petitioner's Mother, Gloria Jean Holcombe testified at the Post Conviction Relief Hearing. Ms. Holcombe testified that she was concerned about the plea, specifically regarding the mention of an evaluation. She stated that she had spoken with his attorney, Mr. Fuller, and Mr. Fuller explained that there was an evaluation that Bobby would have to go through, but that Bobby should be fine. (App. p. 110, lines 1-11)

There was an original allegation of pornography found on the computer in the second incident. This allegation was eventually dropped as the attorneys for the Petitioner hired a forensic computer expert who determined that the alleged pornography was on the computer prior to Mr. Russell's involvement in this case. The Petitioner believed that this helped to demonstrate the untruthfulness of the mother of victims 2 and 3. (App. p. 123, lines 21-25)

Petitioner's attorney testified that there was some concern with the evaluation by Dr. Burke, in that he did show some inappropriate responses. However, it was Dr. Burke's opinion that he could be safely treated in his program. Counsel further testified that he did not

understand why the case was going to a plea. That they had prepared this case for trial and had spent a lot of time and man hours to get ready for trial. (App. p. 123, lines 1-8) Mr. Fuller also testified that he had spoken with the mother of victims 2 & 3 father, Mr. John Lewellen. That he was a possible defense witness and that he would have been used to show lack of credibility for the second case. (App. p. 124, lines 1-14) Mr. Fuller testified that he believed that he had spoken to the Petitioner regarding the Sexually Violent Predator Act, but appeared to be somewhat vague about when he had had an opportunity to speak with the Petitioner about this matter or how long they had discussed it. (App. p. 126, lines 17-25, p. 127, lines 1-14)

On November 8, 2013, additional testimony was taken before the Honorable Edgar W. Dickson. Mr. Lewellen testified that he had trouble with his daughter, the mother of victims 2 & 3, for a number of years. He indicated that he could have testified regarding his daughter's credibility and about her past. (App. p. 157, lines 21-25, p. 158, lines 1-2) He stated that he would be able to testify about the fact that she had made allegations of a similar nature against other people.

In a Post Conviction Relief action, the Applicant has the burden of proving the allegations in the Application. Rule 71.1 (e), SCRPC; Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 W.E.2d 813 (1985). Where ineffective assistance of counsel is alleged as a ground for relief, the Applicant must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2064 (1984); Butler, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E. 2d 813 (1985).

The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Courts presume that counsel

rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Butler, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E. 2d 813 (1985). The Applicant must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E. 2d 624 (1989).

Courts use a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. First, the applicant must prove that Counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, attorney performance is measured by its "reasonableness under professional norms." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 385 S.E. 2d at 625 (citing Strickland). With respect to guilty plea counsel, the Applicant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's alleged errors, he would not have pled guilty and would have insisted on going to trial. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 106 S.Ct. 366 (1985).