STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

CERTIORARI TO DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-001640

BOBBY RUSSELL, JR.,

vs.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RECEIVED

JUL 15 2015

S.C. Supreme Court
Petitioner,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MEGAN HARRIGAN JAMESON
SC Bar No. 100108
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

There is evidence of probative value to support the post-conviction relief court's finding that counsel was not ineffective for failing to explain the Sexually Violent Predator Act to Petitioner and advise him that he would be screened for civil commitment pursuant to the Act, where the plea court and counsel both advised Petitioner of the Act and his screening for commitment prior to the court's acceptance of his guilty plea and counsel had no duty to advise Petitioner of the Act prior to his guilty plea.

Petitioner argues that counsel was ineffective for failing to inform him of the Sexually Violent Predator Act (hereinafter "the Act") and for failing to advise him that he would be screened for civil commitment pursuant to the Act as a sexually violent predator as a result of his guilty plea. However, Petitioner conceded both at the evidentiary hearing and in his Petition that he was advised about the Act and that he would likely be screened for civil commitment as a sexually violent predator pursuant to the Act by counsel and the plea court. Despite this concession, Petitioner argues that counsel was ineffective because he was led to believe his sentence would result in a short period of incarceration before he would be allowed to return home and seek treatment for his illicit sexual proclivities while on probation. Petitioner contends that because he was civilly committed as a sexually violent predatory pursuant to the Act, he was unable to return home, thus rendering his guilty plea involuntary and counsel's performance ineffective. Petitioner presented this argument and numerous witnesses to the post-conviction relief court during two evidentiary hearings. After listening to all testimony and a thorough review of the record below, the post-conviction relief court correctly denied and dismissed this allegation with prejudice.

In its Order of Dismissal, the post-conviction relief court found Petitioner failed to satisfy his burden of proof regarding the alleged deficiency of plea counsel for failure

to inform Petitioner of the Act and that he would be screened for civil commitment pursuant to the Act, citing that counsel's testimony from evidentiary hearing and the transcript from Petitioner's guilty plea proceeding that squarely refuted this allegation. (App. p. 201). The court also found that although counsel did inform Petitioner of the Act and possible civil commitment pursuant to the Act, counsel was under no obligation to inform Petitioner of the civil commitment process under the Act, citing Page v. State, 364 S.C. 632, 637, 615 S.E.2d 740, 742 (2005) ("We conclude Petitioner's counsel had no duty to inform him about the civil commitment process under the SVPA. Although eligibility for civil commitment under the SVPA is triggered by conviction of a "sexually violent offense," civil commitment can be imposed only after testing, evaluation, a probable cause hearing, and a trial by either the court or jury. No one can be civilly committed as a "sexually violent predator" unless the State proves beyond a reasonable doubt the person suffers from a mental abnormality or personality disorder that makes the person likely to engage in sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility. Consequently, a person may be convicted of a predicate offense, and yet not be committed under the SVPA because the evidence is not sufficient to find that his or her present mental condition creates a likelihood of future sexually violent behavior. Thus, any possible civil commitment of Petitioner would not flow directly from his guilty plea, but rather from a separate civil proceeding as a collateral consequence.")

The post-conviction relief court then found that Petitioner failed to establish any resulting prejudice from this allegation, citing counsel and the plea court's full advisement of all of Petitioner's rights and possible consequences, including that he would likely be screened for civil commitment pursuant to the Act. (App. p. 202). The

court noted that Petitioner still admitted his guilt and voluntarily waived his rights and pled guilty with full understanding of possible commitment pursuant to the Act. The court concluded that there was no reasonable likelihood that Petitioner would not have pled guilty absent counsel's alleged deficiencies and therefore could not establish the requisite prejudice required for relief. The post-conviction relief court also determined "Counsel's testimony [was] very credible while Applicant's testimony, along with the testimony of Applicant's witnesses, [was] lacking credibility." There is ample evidence in the record to support the post-conviction relief court's findings and this Court should affirm. See Cherry, 300 S.C. at 119, 386 S.E.2d at 626.

During Petitioner's plea hearing, the plea court asked him if he was aware of the Act and Petitioner responded affirmatively. (App. p. 8). Specifically, the following exchange occurred between Petitioner and the plea court:

THE COURT: Okay. Very well. Do you also understand that there's something called the "Sexually Violent Predator Act"? Do you understand that?

PETITIONER: Yes, ma'am. I've — I've heard of it.

THE COURT: Yes. And -- it is a procedure and there is a committee that reviews folks who are coming out of SCDC or otherwise, and they make a determination regarding whether or not they believe there's probable cause that this individual is a sexually violent predator. If they believe that that individual is a sexually violent predator, then they send it to a circuit court judge to confirm or not confirm probable cause to believe that someone is a sexually violent predator. And in the event that that occurs, then there's an evaluation. And in the event that the evaluation comes back and there is a determination that that person has a mental abnormality that—that causes them to be a sexually violent predator, then ultimately they—that person can stand trial. And if it is determined that that person is a sexually violent predator, then they are forcibly held and treated until such

time as the abnormality and risk to the community no longer exists. Do you understand that?

PETITIONER: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: All right. Very well. And there's some discussion about whether or not the abnormality goes away, but for sure, the risk to the community has to go away. You understand?

PETITIONER: Yes, ma'am.

(App. pp. 8-9). Petitioner also told the plea court that he understood Megan's Law, which would require him to be tracked by GPS monitoring for the remainder of his life. (App. pp. 9). The trial court also informed Petitioner that he "need[ed] to count on serving day for day [his] sentence," which he said he understood. (App. pp. 9). Later during the plea, the court stated that she believed Petitioner met the prima facie case for a sexually violent predator, would be evaluated pursuant to the Act, and "hopefully get [Petitioner] the appropriate treatment that he needs." (App. p. 32). Based on the record of Petitioner's guilty plea proceeding, it is undisputed that he was advised of the Act, possible civil commitment under the Act, and that he would more likely than not be screened for commitment based upon his guilty plea. It is also undisputed that Petitioner acknowledged under oath that he was already aware of the Act prior to his guilty plea.

At the first evidentiary hearing in May, Petitioner testified that counsel did inform him of the Act and possible commitment but not until the day of his guilty plea. (App. pp. 83). He acknowledged that the plea court asked him if he was aware of the Act and explained the Act and civil commitment pursuant to the Act to him. (App. pp. 84, 97). He further testified that he told the trial court that he understood the Act and possible civil commitment pursuant to the Act, but that he was not concerned with it because "[he] was told by [his] attorneys [he] didn't meet the criteria." (App. pp. 84). Petitioner repeatedly

testified to that effect. (App. pp. 97, 98, 102-03). Petitioner also repeatedly testified that “[he] was informed by [his] lawyer to say yes” to all of the plea court’s questions regardless of the true answer. (App. pp. 95-97). At the subsequent hearing in October, Petitioner testified that counsel informed him that he would be evaluated pursuant to the Act but that he “wouldn’t be found as a sexual[ly] violent predator.” (App. pp. 171, 174-75). Petitioner testified that he did not recall the plea court going over the Act with him at the guilty plea. (App. pp. 173-74, 175). He elaborated: “There’s a lot of stuff in the transcript that [the plea court] didn’t say,” challenging the authenticity of the plea transcript. (App. pp. 174). He also testified that counsel told him to say “yes ma’am” and “no ma’am” to all questions. (App. pp. 175). After listening to his testimony, the post-conviction relief court found his testimony lacked credibility.

In contrast, counsel testified that he discussed the Act and possible civil commitment with Petitioner well before his guilty plea. (App. pp. 126-27, 140-41, 182). He testified that Petitioner understood he would be screened for commitment pursuant to the Act in a separate proceeding. (App. pp. 127). He testified that the plea court advised Petitioner of the Act and civil commitment pursuant to the Act during the guilty plea. (App. pp. 128-29). Counsel also testified that he did not recall Petitioner indicating that he did not understand Act or that he did not want to go forward with his plea after the plea court’s advisement of the Act. (App. pp. 129). Counsel further testified that he and Uricchio understood that Petitioner would be screened for civil commitment pursuant to the program, but that they thought he would likely not be committed and would be able to continue outpatient treatment while on probation. (App. pp. 140). Counsel testified that

he and Uricchio made Petitioner aware that he would be subject to an evaluation through the program before Petitioner pled guilty. (App. pp. 141).

Counsel testified that he and Uricchio prepared extensively for trial, including hiring two private investigators, talking to potential witnesses, and hiring a forensic analyst. (App. p. 123). Counsel also testified that he and Uricchio retained an independent expert, Dr. Burke, who conducted a sexual deviance test on Petitioner. (App. p. 119). He testified that the original hope was that Dr. Burke would be able to testify that Petitioner was not a risk to society. (App. p. 119). However, Dr. Burke's sexual deviancy test revealed that Petitioner was a moderate risk and had responded inappropriately to stimuli involving minors. (App. pp. 119-120). Specifically, Petitioner's largest stimulus was a role playing stimulus of a young child who was a neighbor, a similar scenario to his pending charges. (App. p. 120). Counsel testified that based on the results of Dr. Burke's assessment, the defense strategy changed due to concerns that Dr. Burke would have to testify negatively for Petitioner if the case proceeded to trial and he was called as a witness. (App. pp. 121-22). He testified that they tried to secure an Alford plea, but that the plea court was unwilling to accept a plea without Petitioner admitting his guilt. (App. pp. 122-23). He testified that the best offer was the one that Petitioner ended up accepting. (App. pp. 123-26). Counsel testified that the offer from the State was a "very, very good offer." (App. p. 138). The post-conviction relief court found counsel's testimony credible and afforded it great weight.

The post-conviction relief court's findings are clearly supported by ample evidence in the record. Despite the support for its ruling, Petitioner argues that the lower court erred because "[t]he evidence presented at the [evidentiary] hearing supported the

claim of the Petitioner . . . that he was not going to be eligible for the Sexually Violent Predator program.” (PWC p. 7). This is clearly contradictory to the record from both evidentiary hearings and Petitioner’s guilty plea proceeding. Furthermore, although counsel did advise Petitioner correctly about the Act and possible commitment, there is no duty to advise a defendant regarding such a collateral consequence.

This Court has held that counsel has no duty to inform a client about the civil commitment process under the Act, as civil commitment can only be imposed after testing, evaluation, a probable cause hearing, and a trial. Page v. State, 364 S.C. 632, 637, 615 S.E.2d 740, 742 (2005). See also Hamm v. State, 403 S.C. 461, 744 S.E.2d 503 (2013) (holding Hamm was not entitled to relief because commitment pursuant to the Act does not automatically flow from the conviction, rather a civil proceeding occurs where the defendant is evaluated before commitment is certain). In Petitioner’s case, counsel testified that he and co-counsel informed Petitioner of the Act and his possible civil commitment under the Act as a result of his guilty plea in advance of his plea, going beyond their professional duties and requirements under Page. Therefore, the post-conviction relief court properly discerned that counsel was not deficient. Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625. Furthermore, the post-conviction relief court also properly held that Petitioner could have been prejudiced by the alleged deficiency, as counsel had no duty to inform his client of the civil commitment process as set forth in Page.

Additionally, this case is similar to Moorehead v. State, 329 S.C. 329, 496 S.E.2d 415 (1998). In Moorehead, this Court held that “even if trial counsel erroneously informed respondent that his sentence would be probationary [regarding a criminal sexual conduct charge], any misconception was cured at the plea hearing.” Id. at 333, 496 S.E.2d

at 416-17. In Moorehead, the applicant “claimed he answered the trial judge’s questions regarding the plea affirmatively because ‘I done what [counsel] told me to do. . . . He said the judge knew about all of this and that’s how things was done around here. That’s why I told the judge that.’” Id. at 332-33, 496 S.E.2d at 416. However, counsel testified “he never promised respondent a straight probationary sentence although they did discuss probation to follow his active jail time as part of the plea negotiations.” Id. This Court reasoned that the alleged “promise” of a probationary sentence was cured when the trial judge asked the respondent if he understood the possible sentence for a criminal sexual conduct charge, to which the applicant replied affirmatively. Id. at 333, 496 S.E.2d at 416. This Court further noted that “[applicant]’s explanation that he answered the trial judge affirmatively on counsel’s alleged advice that the questions were meaningless does not support the grant of PCR.” Id. at 333, 496 S.E.2d at 417 (citing Wolf v. State, 326 S.C. 158, 485 S.E.2d 367 (1997)).

Similarly, in the present case, Petitioner alleges that counsel informed him that he would be going home the weekend after his plea and that plea counsel told him to respond to the trial court’s questions at the plea hearing with “yes ma’am” or “no ma’am.” Even if counsel had informed Petitioner he would be going home that weekend⁵, any alleged error was cured by the plea court informing Petitioner in depth of the Act and possible civil commitment pursuant to the Act. Furthermore, there is no credible evidence to support Petitioner’s allegation that plea counsel told him to respond affirmatively to the trial court’s questions. The post-conviction relief court properly denied Petitioner’s allegation.

⁵ There is no credible evidence to support Petitioner’s assertions that counsel told him he would be home by the weekend.

Based on the foregoing, there is clearly ample evidence in the record to support the post-conviction relief court's findings. Additionally, the post-conviction relief court's findings are not controlled by an error of law, but rather, are supported by abundant case law. This Court should affirm the post-conviction relief court's findings and denial of relief to Petitioner.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny this Petition. Should this Court grant the Petition for Writ of Certiorari, Respondent requests permission to more fully brief the issues herein.